1977

W. W. & W. B. Gardner, Inc. A Utah Corporation v.
Summit Limited, A California Limited Partnership,
Et Al. : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action commenced by Plaintiff-Respondent against some 60 defendants (including appellant) for work performed by plaintiff on property located in Park City, Utah. Plaintiff claims that it entered into an agreement with certain defendants to pave the property and further claims that such work was duly performed but that compensation has not been received. Plaintiff sought a judgment against the various defendants on differing legal theories claiming that it was entitled to a total compensation of \$40,000 for the work performed.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The original Complaint filed by plaintiff named approximately 60 defendants. Throughout the course of proceedings, several defendants were dismissed. On September 3, 1976, plaintiff moved for Summary Judgment and for Entry of a Default Judgment against defendant Summit Limited. On September 20, 1976, both motions were heard before the Honorable Peter F. Leary, judge in the Third Judicial District. Defendant Summit Limited was not represented at the hearing and after listening to arguments advanced by counsel for plaintiff, both the Motion for Summary Judgment and the Motion for Entry of Default were granted. A Judgment was prepared by plaintiff's counsel and executed by the court on September 22, 1976. (R. 668-691).

On November 30, 1976, defendant Summit Limited obtained local counsel who then moved for relief from judgment under Rule 60(b). (R. 703). The court denied the motion on the grounds that the lower court lacked jurisdiction. (R. 709-710).

A Notice of Appeal from the September 22nd judgment was filed with the Summit County Court Clerk on October 12, 1976.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Appellant seeks a reversal from this Court of the lower court's order granting Summary Judgment in favor of

of respondent and Default Judgment against appellant and requests that this Court remand the action to the lower court for trial on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record filed with this Court contains over 700 pages. The majority of this record is irrelevant to this appeal since it concerns pleadings of the other some 50 defendants. For this reason, an Appendix has been prepared to this brief which excerpts those portions of the record which appellant believes are relevant to the issues presented. Attachments to pleadings, however, have been omitted from the Appendix. References, whenever possible, will be made to both the record and to the Appendix page.

This action involves property located in Park City, Utah. In 1973, a subdivision was built in this area by a group of developers. In November of 1973, this property was conveyed to National Property Management, Inc., a Utah corporation. Several days thereafter, an agreement was entered into between National Property Management, Inc. and Summit Limited, a California limited partnership. (R. 663-667; App. 24-29). This agreement provided that \$736,000 would be paid to National

Property Management, Inc. in yearly installments as provided by the agreement. National Property Management, Inc. agreed to release certain parcels of land on a determined basis according to the amount of money paid. (R. 663; App. 25).

On July 1, 1974, plaintiff-respondent, W. W. Gardner, Inc., entered into a contract with Ski Park West, Inc. for the asphaltic concrete paving at Park West Village. (R. 545; App. 47). This agreement was signed by J. C. Wheelwright, agent for plaintiff, and Richard Hallmark, Vice-President of Ski Park West, Inc.

At the time of this contract, National Property Management, Inc. was a wholly owned subsidiary of Ski Park City West, Inc. (R. 542 and 668; App. 43). It is alleged by plaintiff that Richard Hallmark, the officer executing the contract with plaintiff, was also a vice-president of National Property Management. (App. 62). Between November 15, 1973 and July 10, 1975, the general partner of Summit Limited was a California corporation known as Condor International Corporation. (R. 537 and 671; App. 55). Plaintiff alleges that Richard Hallmark was also President of Condor International during this time. (App. 62).

Plaintiff commenced this suit on July 10, 1975 and named

approximately 60 individual defendants in the original Complaint. (R. 1-16). On October 23, 1975, plaintiff mailed its First Set of Interrogatories to the majority of defendants, including appellant, Summit Limited. (R. 309-322).

On August 28, 1975, plaintiff amended its Complaint to delete some defendants and add others. (R. 280-308). On July 21, 1976, the trial court granted an order allowing plaintiff to again amend its Complaint to include an Eighth and Ninth Cause of Action. (R. 605). On July 6, 1976 and August 9, 1976, plaintiff served by mail upon defendant Summit Limited its Third Set of Interrogatories. (R. 532-538). Similarly, on July 6, 1976 and August 9, 1976, plaintiff served by mail upon defendant Summit Limited its Request for Admissions of Facts. (R. 541-544).

During these entire proceedings, Summit Limited was not represented by counsel but was represented by Stephen H. Bauer, a general partner "in pro per." (R. 615; App. 9; R. 670; App. 48). On September 7, 1976, Mr. Bauer filed an "Answer of Summit Limited to Second Amended Complaint." (R. 615-619; App. 9-11). On the same day, September 7, 1976, plaintiff filed with the clerk a "Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Entry of Default Judgment." (R. 620-622; App. 12-14).

Included with this Motion was the Affidavit of John C. Wheelwright, an employee of the plaintiff. (R. 623-626; App. 15-18).

On September 17, 1976, three days before the plaintiff's motions were to be heard, Mr. Bauer filed four separate pleadings with the Summit County Clerk, These pleadings were served on the plaintiff on September 15, 1976. (App. 67). These pleadings included the following:

1. The "Affidavit of Stephen H. Bauer in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment and Default Judgment." (R. 660-662; App. 20-23).

2. Answers to Request for Admissions of Fact.* (R. 668-669; App. 41-45).

3. Answer to First Set of Interrogatories Propounded by Plaintiff.* (R. 643-645; App. 30-40).

4. Answer to Third Set of Interrogatories Propounded by Plaintiff.* (R. 670-672; App. 48-58).

* It should be noted that while Mr. Bauer complied with Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, he was unaware of Rule 9.1 of the Rules of Practice in the District Courts of the State of Utah requiring the question to be restated in the response to discovery. For this reason, and for the convenience of the parties and the Court, appellant has combined the questions with the answers in the Appendix with appropriate record references to both questions and answers.

On September 20, 1976, a hearing was held by the Honorable Peter F. Leary upon plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and for Entry of Default Judgment. Defendant Summit Limited was not represented at this hearing. Plaintiff's counsel informed the Court of various facts and argued that no issue as to any material fact existed. Plaintiff's counsel also argued that the delay in discovery justified sanctions under Rule 37. Upon hearing no objection, the trial court granted both motions without comment. (Reporter's transcript of proceedings, September 20, 1976, pp. 1-7; App. 59-65).

A Judgment was prepared by plaintiff's counsel and submitted to the trial court. It was executed on September 22, 1976. (R. 688-691; App. 66-70).

On October 12, 1976, Stephen Bauer, on behalf of defendant Summit Limited filed a Notice of Appeal from the September 22nd judgment. (R. 694). Defendant then obtained local counsel who moved for relief from Judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b). (R. 703). After a short hearing the trial court denied this motion on the grounds that it lacked jurisdiction because of the pending appeal. (R. 709-710).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 37(d) OF THE UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

As stated previously, the trial Court granted both a default judgment based upon Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and summary judgment based upon Rule 56. The Rule 37 default was granted by the Court because of the alleged discovery non-compliance by defendant-appellant Summit Limited. The motion for default was originally granted at the hearing "for failure to respond to discovery" (Reporter's transcript at proceedings, September 20, 1976, p. 6; App. 65). However, in the judgment prepared by plaintiff's counsel and signed by the Court on September 22, 1976, the "failure" to respond was modified into "delay". The judgment reads as follows:

6. The Court finds that the failure of Summit Limited timely to respond to said discovery request was without excuse or justification, particularly because responses to plaintiff's said First Set of Interrogatories were served ten months late and because defendant Summit Limited at no time sought leave of this Court tardily to file responses to said Interrogatories as required by Rule 33, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court further finds that the failure by defendant Summit Limited timely to respond to plaintiff's said discovery requests caused delay in the prosecution of these proceedings and substantial additional expense to plaintiff.

* * *

10. Defendant Summit Limited failed timely to serve answers or objections to said interrogatories submitted by plaintiff after proper service of said interrogatories. Based upon the foregoing determinations, together with the persistent failure of defendant Summit Limited timely or properly to respond to plaintiff's discovery requests, the Court determines pursuant to Rule 37(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, that judgment by default shall be rendered against defendant Summit Limited. (R. 689-690; App. 67-69) (emphasis added).

It is undisputed that appellant Summit Limited responded to all of respondent's discovery requests before the motion for summary judgment was heard by the trial court. The trial court's judgment reflects that on September 15, 1976 responses were served upon plaintiffs. (R. 689; App. 67). These same responses were filed with the clerk of Summit County on September 17, 1976, three days before the summary judgment hearing. (R. 643-645; App. 30-40; R. 668-669; App. 41-45; R. 670-686; App. 48-58). For this reason Rule 37 is inapplicable and cannot be used as a basis for imposing a default judgment.

Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure concerns the use of interrogatories as a discovery device. This rule provides "the party submitting the interrogatories may move for an order under Rule 37(a) with respect to any objection to or other failure to answer an interrogatory." (emphasis added). Rule 37, the sanction provision of the Utah Civil

Rules, outlines the procedure to be used once the requesting party makes its motion for discovery pursuant to Rule 33.

The applicable portions of Rule 37 are as follows:

37(a)(2) Motion. If a deponent fails to answer a question propounded or submitted under Rules 30 or 31, or a corporation or other entity fails to make a designation under Rule 30(b)(6) or 31(a), or a party fails to answer an interrogatory submitted under Rule 33 . . . the discovering party may move for an order compelling an answer, or a designation, or an order compelling inspection in accordance with the request. (Emphasis added).

* * *

37(d) Failure of Party to Attend at Own Deposition or Serve Answers to Interrogatories or Respond to Requests for Inspection. If a party or an officer, director, or managing agent of a party or a person designated under Rule 30(b)(6) or 31(a) to testify on behalf of a party fails (1) to appear before the officer who was to take his deposition, after being served with a proper notice, or (2) to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under Rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories . . . the court in which the action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others it may take any action authorized under paragraphs (A), (B), (C) of subdivision (b)(2) of this rule. In lieu of any order or in addition thereto, the court shall require the party failing to act or the attorney advising him or both to pay the reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, caused by the failure, unless the court finds that the failure was substantially justified or that other circumstances make an award of expenses unjust. Rule 37(d) (Emphasis added).

A cursory examination of Rule 37 discloses that the mere delay of filing discovery requests is not sufficient grounds

for sanctions. This is not to say, however, that expenses or costs cannot be assessed against a delinquent party since Rule 37(a)(4) and 37(d) provide for reasonable expenses in bringing the motion to compel discovery. Since the court in this case specifically found "that the failure by defendant Summit Limited timely to respond to plaintiff's said discovery request caused delay in the prosecution of these proceedings and substantial additional expense to plaintiff" the court had discretion to award costs for such delay. In any event, however, the court erred in granting a default judgment when it clearly had no authority to do so.

The United States District Court of Pennsylvania in Kearns vs. 7-Up Company, 30 F.R.D. 333 (D. Penn. 1962) refused to issue sanctions under Rule 37 for a delay in answering interrogatories. The court stated "Rule 37, by its terms, does not impose sanctions for delay in answering interrogatories, and the Courts have generally not so interpreted the provisions of the Rule." Id. at 334. (Emphasis added). This reasoning is especially applicable in cases where the answering party may be ignorant of the Civil Rules of Procedure. Dunn vs. Pennsylvania Railway Company, 96 F.Supp. 597 (D. Ohio, 1951).

In addition to these legal reasons prohibiting a default judgment from being entered, other considerations also

prevail. Defendant Summit Limited, acting through its general partner Steven Bauer, immediately responded to the discovery requests upon receipt of the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment outlining the previous discovery failures. (R. 620-621; App. 12-19; R. 660-667; App. 20-29; R. 643-645; App. 30-40; R. 668-669; App. 41-45; R. 670-686; App. 48-58). Moreover, the judgment reflects that except for the initial ten-month delay as to the first set of interrogatories, the third set of interrogatories and request for admissions were only delayed four days from the last service. It should be noted that plaintiff amended its complaint on two separate occasions, the last amendment being as late as July 19, 1976 (R. 597), and that under the Utah Rules no discovery response is required until 45 days have elapsed. Since this action originally involved sixty separate defendants (R. 1) it is understandable how the voluminous pleadings sent to all parties could especially confuse an out-of-state layman who foolishly attempted to represent the appellant partnership.

This Court has repeatedly held that a default judgment should not be imposed for discovery purposes unless the circumstances clearly warrant this extreme remedy. In Carman vs. Slavens, 546 P.2d. 601 (Utah, 1976) an appeal was

taken from an order directing that an answer be stricken and summary judgment entered because of the defendant's failure to appear at his deposition and produce documents. Justice Crockett, in the opinion, succinctly interpreted the sanction provision of Rule 37(d). He stated:

The language of the rule as presently worded is permissive, rather than mandatory, wherein it states: that the court "may make such orders. . . as are just, and . . . may take any action. . ." etc. This grants the court discretionary authority to impose the sanctions mentioned. It is true that where the authority to perform a proposed action rests within the discretion of the court we must allow considerable latitude in which he may exercise his judgment. But this does not mean that the court has unrestrained power to act in an arbitrary manner. Fundamental to the concept of the rule of law is the principle that reason and justice shall prevail over the arbitrary and uncontrolled rule of any one person; that this applies to all men in every status: to courts and judges, as well to autocrats or bureaucrats. The meaning of the term "discretion" itself imports that the action should be taken within reason and good conscience in the interest of protecting the rights of both parties and serving the ends of justice. It has always been the policy of our law to resolve doubts in favor of permitting parties to have their day in court on the merits of a controversy. Id. at 603. (Emphasis added).

Likewise, in Westinghouse Electric Company vs. Paul W. Larsen, Contractors Inc., 544 P.2d 876 (Utah, 1975) this Court vacated an order entered by the trial court dismissing a suit for failure to diligently prosecute. Part of the contentions raised by the defendants in that case bordered around the failure of plaintiffs to supply interrogatories in

a timely manner. This Court held that the granting of the dismissal motion was unreasonable and that injustice would result from such dismissal. This Court also observed that the defendants themselves were not overly diligent nor manifested any particular haste in getting the pre-trial discovery procedures completed. Justice Crockett in the opinion again stated the considerations in reviewing a dismissal case:

It is indeed commendable to handle cases with dispatch and to move calendars with expedition in order to keep them up-to-date. But it is even more important to keep in mind that the very reason for the existence of courts is to afford disputants an opportunity to be heard and to do justice between them. In conformity with that principle the courts generally tend to favor granting relief from default judgments where there is any reasonable excuse, unless it will result in substantial prejudice or injustice to the adverse party. Id. at 879.

The record is clear that no prejudice will result from vacating this dismissal order since there are presently approximately forty other defendants remaining in the lawsuit who have not yet had their day in court. The record is also clear that plaintiff made no effort under Rule 37(a) to seek an order compelling discovery and therefore, just as in the Westinghouse case, plaintiff cannot complain about delay when it failed to utilize the judicial machinery provided to prevent such problems.

For these reasons, the judgment of the trial court

granting default under Rule 37(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was improper and should be vacated. See also Hatch vs. Renzo, 21 Utah 2d 144, 442 P.2d 467 (Utah, 1968); G.M. Leasing Corporation vs. Murray First Thrift and Loan Co., 534 P.2d 1244 (Utah, 1975).

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO RULE 56, UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, IN THAT SUBSTANTIAL QUESTIONS OF MATERIAL FACT PRECLUDED SUMMARY DISPOSITION.

In paragraph 9 of the judgment, the trial court made the following determination:

The pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavit of J. C. Wheelwright show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that plaintiff is entitled to judgment as a matter of law as moved against defendant Summit Limited. (R. 690; App. 69).

This conclusion of the judgment is unsupported by the record as will be discussed in this section of the brief. Before such discussion, however, it is well to remember the admonitions concerning summary judgment as pronounced by this Court. Summary judgment is a drastic remedy and courts should be reluctant to deprive litigants of an opportunity to fully present their contentions upon a trial. Tangren vs. Ingalls, 12 Utah 2d 388, 367 P.2d 179 (1962); Brandt vs. Sprinville Banking Company, 10 Utah 2d 350, 353 P.2d 460 (1960); Welchman vs. Wood, 9 Utah 2d 25, 337 P.2d 410 (1959). Summary judgment should be granted only when, taking the view

most favorable to the losing party's claims and any proof that he might properly adduce thereunder, it is determined that he in no event can prevail. Holbrook Company vs. Adams, 542 P.2d 191 (Utah, 1975); Gillmor vs. Carter, 15 Utah 2d 280, 391 P.2d 426 (1964); Kidman vs. White, 14 Utah 2d 142, 378 P.2d 898 (1963).

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