1977

W. W. & W. B. Gardner, Inc. A Utah Corporation v.  
Summit Limited, A California Limited Partnership,  
Et Al. : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

Rule 37(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides in pertinent part as follows:

If a party . . . fails . . . (2) to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under Rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories, or (3) to serve a written response to a request for inspection submitted under Rule 34, after

proper service of the request, the court in which the action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others it may take any action authorized under paragraphs (A), (B), and (C) of subdivision (b)(2) of this rule.

Subdivision (b)(2), paragraph C of Rule 37 prescribes that the court may render "a judgment by default against the disobedient party." The trial court, pursuant to the rule just quoted, entered a default judgment against defendant Summit Limited for its persistent failure timely or properly to respond to plaintiff's discovery requests. [R. 690].

The actions of defendant Summit Limited below reflect a persistent, knowing, and deliberate refusal to comply with the rules of civil procedure:

1. On October 23, 1973, plaintiff duly served upon Summit Limited its First Set of Interrogatories. [R. 309; R. 688].

2. On July 6, 1976, plaintiff duly served upon Summit Limited its Third Set of Interrogatories. [R. 532; R. 689].

3. On July 6, 1976, plaintiff duly served upon Summit Limited its Request for Admissions of Facts. [R. 541; R. 689].

4. On July 12, 1976, plaintiff duly served upon Summit Limited its Request for Production of Documents. [R. 587].

5. On August 9, 1976, plaintiff again duly served upon Summit Limited its Third Set of Interrogatories. [R. 608; R. 689].

6. On August 9, 1976, plaintiff again duly served upon Summit Limited its Request for Admission of Facts. [R. 608; R. 689].

7. On August 9, 1976, plaintiff again duly served upon Summit Limited its Request for Production of Documents. [R. 608].

As of September 3, 1976, Summit Limited had responded to none of the above-described discovery requests. On that date, plaintiff served upon Summit Limited and filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Entry of Default Judgment. [R. 620]. On September 15, 1976, after receipt of plaintiff's Motion, but prior to the hearing thereon, Summit Limited served upon plaintiff responses to (1) First Set of Interrogatories -- ten months late, (2) Third Set of Interrogatories -- one and one-half months late, and (3) Requests for Admissions of Fact -- one and one-half months late. [R. 655].. Summit Limited to this day has not filed a response to plaintiff's Request for Production of Documents.

Summit Limited in its Brief does not and reasonably cannot question the truth of the foregoing recitations of facts. Those facts conclusively demonstrate that Summit Limited simply ignored plaintiff's discovery requests until it received plaintiff's motion to enter the default of Summit Limited, at which time Summit Limited in short order responded to all discovery requests save plaintiff's Request for Production of Documents. The trial court properly concluded that "the failure of Summit Limited timely to respond to said discovery requests was without excuse or justification," and that "the failure by defendant Summit Limited timely to respond to plaintiff's said discovery requests caused delay in the prosecution of these proceedings and substantial additional expense to plaintiff."

[R. 689]. The trial court accordingly entered a default judgment against Summit Limited.

Summit Limited raises a number of obviously erroneous arguments in an effort to invalidate the lower court's order. Most of its arguments are spurious and can be disposed of summarily.

Summit Limited first argues that since plaintiff amended its complaint on July 19, 1976, no response to any discovery request was due until 45 days thereafter. [Appellant's Brief, p. 12]. Rules 33(a), 34(b), and 36(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, all prescribe that responses to interrogatories, document requests, and requests for admissions, respectively, are due 30 days after service of same except that a defendant is not required so to respond until "45 days after service of summons and complaint upon that defendant." Thus, the 45 day period for response only applies in the case of original service of summons and complaint upon the defendant.<sup>3</sup> Summit Limited was served with summons and complaint on October 2, 1975 [R. 185] -- eleven months prior to service of Summit Limited's responses. Thus, the 45 day rule is obviously inapplicable here. Even assuming (as Summit Limited does throughout its Brief) that the 45 day period was applicable, Summit Limited was still substantially late in responding to those requests to which it did respond.

Summit Limited secondly argues that Rule 37(d) authorizes imposition of sanctions only for no responses, and not

---

3/ The purpose of additional time for response following initial service is clear -- to enable defendant to engage counsel and prepare to defend. That object is clearly absent in the case of subsequent service of an amended complaint.



for tardy responses, to discovery requests. [Appellant's Brief, pp. 8-11]. This Court's adoption of that absurd argument would advise parties and counsel that they may cavalierly ignore discovery requests until a motion for sanctions is filed without fear of repercussion. Predictably, the courts and the language of Rule 37(d) reject Summit Limited's argument. Rule 37(d) prescribes that a trial court can impose sanctions upon a party's failure to serve responses to discovery requests. The court in Naive v. Jones, 353 S.W. 2d 365 (Ky. 1961) construed that clear language in the context of facts strikingly similar to those here presented. In Naive, plaintiff filed answers to interrogatories three months late, after receiving a motion for sanctions but before the hearing of same. The trial court dismissed plaintiff's case and on appeal plaintiff, like Summit Limited, argued that the court lacked authority to dismiss under those circumstances. The appellate court, affirming, responded:

Plaintiff's principal contention seems to be that the trial court lacked authority to proceed as it did. He contends there cannot be a violation of Rule 33 by mere de-lay in answering, and the words "fails to serve answers" means that the party must absolutely and positively refuse to answer. This argument is not persuasive. Rule 33 requires answers to be served within a specified number of days. If no answer is served within that time, then the party has failed to answer. Such a failure is itself a positive refusal to comply as required. Consequently it constitutes a violation of Rule 33 in the manner condemned by CR 37.05, which empowers the court to dismiss the action. Id. at 366 (Emphasis original).

Similarly, in Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith v. Echols, 138 Ga.App. 593, 226 S.E.2d 742 (1976), the court, affirming a

dismissal for tardy responses to interrogatories, observed:

Nor is there any significance in the fact that the plaintiff allegedly submitted answers to the propounded questions before the hearing on defendant's motion for sanctions. "[O]nce the motion for sanctions has been filed, the opposite party may not preclude their imposition by making belated response at the hearing." This applies as well to responses made in the interim between the filing of a motion for sanctions and the hearing on the motion. 226 S.E.2d at 743. (Citations omitted).

A number of other appellate courts have likewise affirmed dismissals or defaults imposed for tardy responses to interrogatories served after receipt of a motion for sanctions, but before the hearing of same. E.g., United States v. Continental Cas. Co., 303 F.2d 91, 92-93 (4th Cir. 1962); Houston General Ins. Co. v. Stein Steel & Supply Co., 134 Fla.App. 624, 215 S.E.2d 511 (1975); Lynch v. R. E. Tull & Sons, Inc., 251 Md. 260, 247 A.2d 287 (1968). Therefore, Judge Leary clearly had the power to enter the default of Summit Limited for its tardy filing of interrogatory responses, not to mention its complete failure to file a response to the request to production of documents as required by Rule 34(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Third, Summit Limited seeks this Court's indulgence because Summit Limited was purportedly represented by a layman -- Mr. Steven H. Bauer, its general partner. [Appellant's Brief, pp. 11, 12]. As plaintiff advised the lower court, Summit Limited's ostensible lay representation is nothing more than a fiction -- plaintiff's counsel at various times during these proceedings communicated with the law firm of Rimel & Helsing of Santa Ana, California concerning Summit Limited's role in this case and indeed concerning the hearing of plain-

tiff's motion for default judgment. [Defendant's App. p. 63-64]. Each and every pleading filed in this case by Summit Limited is filed on pre-printed pleading paper [R. 328, 615, 643, 656, 660, 668, 670, 694, 696], and many bear the name of the Santa Ana, California law firm of Rimel & Helsing in the lower left-hand corner, [R. 329, 615 (masked), 694], and many utilize pre-printed mailing certificates. [R. 618, 619, 655, 659, 694-]. Finally, each paper filed in this case by Summit Limited bears the unmistakable index of a lawyer's presence -- legal jargon and legalese. If Mr. Bauer would have this Court believe that he prepared those papers, he will concurrently convince this Court that he is quite learned in the law and not entitled to any leniency that might otherwise attach to his being ignorant of the law. At the very least, Mr. Bauer demonstrated that he knew how to respond to discovery when a default judgment was threatened.

Finally, Summit Limited raises the only genuine issue concerning the propriety of the lower court's default judgment -- Did the lower court abuse its discretion? [Appellant's Brief, pp. 12-15].

Appellant Summit Limited has a difficult burden on this facet of its appeal. In Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410 (1964), a case where as here defendant sought to reverse a default judgment entered for failure timely and fully to respond to discovery requests, this Court stated:

We first note the basic premise on appeal: That the judgment is presumed to be correct, and that the burden of establishing its invalidity is upon the party attacking it. 396 P.2d at 412-13.

Further, a court's imposition of sanctions pursuant to Rule 37 is discretionary with the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal unless a clear abuse of discretion is demonstrated:

Sanctions for refusal to comply with an order of court or for failure to respond are set out in Rule 37, U.R.C.P., and are discretionary with the court.

\* \* \*

In the absence of an abuse of discretion, we should not undertake to substitute our idea of what is proper for that of the trial court. The law is stated in 5 Am.Jur 2d, Appeal and Error, as follows:

\* \* \*

. . . [A] discretionary determination may be "reviewed" only in the case of a "gross," "clear," "plain," "palatable," or "manifest" abuse of discretion. G.M. Leasing Corp. v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co., 534 P.2d 1244, 1245 (Utah 1975).

Under the circumstances presented in this case, no such abuse of discretion can be demonstrated.

The record in this case demonstrates that Summit Limited was duly served with two sets of interrogatories, one request for production of documents, and one request for admissions. Further, after Summit Limited was out of time in responding to the third set of interrogatories, requests for admission, and request for production, plaintiff for the second time duly served those pleadings on Summit Limited. The time for response pursuant to the second service of those pleadings also expired without response from Summit Limited. Only after Summit Limited was served with plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and to enter default judgment did Summit Limited respond to any discovery. In some cases, Summit Limited's responses were ten

months late. Summit Limited never filed a response to plaintiff's request for production of documents. Summit Limited's belated responses indicate that it knew how to respond, but did not choose to do so until faced with a default judgment. Summit Limited never sought an extension from either plaintiff or the Court. Moreover, it should be noted that each discovery request plainly stated on the first page the time within which a response was required. Finally, Summit Limited did not even bother to appear at the hearing of plaintiff's motion, but now argues that the trial judge erred in various respects that were never presented to the trial court. Upon the foregoing compelling facts and the authorities discussed below, it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in entering the default of Summit Limited.

This Court has twice affirmed the sanction of dismissal or default where a party fails fully or timely to respond to discovery requests. In Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 16 Utah 2d 97, 396 P.2d 410 (1964), plaintiff moved the court for and obtained an order of production.<sup>4</sup> At the pretrial conference, the court directed defendant to produce pursuant to the prior order. Thereafter, the defendant produced some documents, but did not produce others that defendant had theretofore indicated existed. Plaintiff moved for a default judgment, which the trial court granted. On appeal, this Court affirmed, emphasizing

---

4/ Prior to the 1972 amendments to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a request for production absent an order of the court was not permitted; presently, of course, no such order is required. Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 34 (Volume 9, Utah Code Ann. (1953) and 1975 Supp.).

the discretionary character of a trial court's imposition of sanctions:

Whether the failure to comply with the court's order had been wilful and whether the circumstances are so aggravated as to justify the action taken is primarily for the trial court to determine. Unless it is shown that his action is without support on the record, or is a plain abuse of discretion, it should not be disturbed. 396 P.2d at 412-13.

Likewise, in Barber v. Calder, 522 P.2d 700 (Utah 1974), plaintiffs brought an action against defendants, husband and wife. Defendants' son ("not an attorney of record in Utah," 522 P.2d at 701) prepared an answer, which his parents signed, served, and filed. Thereafter, plaintiffs served interrogatories and requests for admissions upon defendants. One and one-half months after such service, plaintiffs served defendants with a motion for sanctions, pursuant to which the court ordered that answers be filed within ten days. One and one-half months later, defendants not having answered, the court on motion entered the default of defendants. Defendants then retained counsel, who filed a petition to set aside the default, which petition was denied by the trial court. This Court affirmed the trial court, reasoning as follows:

It is true as defendants assert that this court has on numerous occasions declared as a matter of general policy that whenever the interests of justice and fair play will be served thereby, the trial court should exercise its discretion liberally in favor of giving the parties an opportunity for a hearing on the merits of a case. However, discretion is not a one way street. As is sometimes said: No pancake can be fried so thin that it does not have two sides. Both parties have rights which it is the responsibility of the trial court to protect. In situations where the exercise of discretion

is appropriate, considerable weight should be given to the determination of the trial court, whichever way it goes. This is true because due to his close involvement with the parties, the witnesses, and the total circumstances of the case, he is in the best position to judge what the interests of justice require in safeguarding the rights and interests of all parties concerned. Id. at 701-02 (Emphasis added).

Significantly, in Barber, defendants were apparently represented by a layman and only four and one-half months elapsed between service of two discovery requests and entry of defendants' default. Here, four discovery requests were served -- most were served twice -- and eleven months elapsed between service of some and the entry of default judgment. Although in Barber no responses were filed by defendants, and hence the Court had no way of knowing whether the lay defendants understood the necessity of response, here Summit Limited proved that it knew how to respond, but only after being faced with the prospect of default.

It has been demonstrated above that the district court clearly had the power to enter a default judgment against Summit Limited for its eleventh hour responses to some requests and its outright failure to file a response to the request for production of documents. Summit Limited emphasizes that it did eventually respond to the requests.<sup>5</sup> Nevertheless, compelling considerations of policy demand that the lower court be affirmed.

If a lower court abuses its discretion by imposing sanctions under the circumstances presented here, the recipients

---

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